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INTRODUCTION

I had started to write this book while I was CEO of BP, but I never got very far with it. After I left the company I resolved to return to the task. The book I have now written is very different from the one I had originally planned.

This book is organised around places in which I have worked and lived. I have chosen to do so because the people in a place make a memory and allow my story to be told. In each place, dates and times are not strictly sequential so that I can tell my tale with what I know now, rather than along the straight arrow of time; a timeline is included for reference.

It is a memoir and not an autobiography; I do not cover everything about my life and times. What I have written about are some of the most exciting, happy and miserable events of my 61 years. I have never kept a diary so have had to rely on my recollections but I have made every effort to check facts wherever possible and to provide sufficient context around these events.

At the end of this volume are some important acknowledgements. Without the friendship, loyalty and support of generations of those who worked in BP, many of these stories would not have happened. I would like to thank them all before I begin my tale.




 PROLOGUE

NEW YORK

 Compass

 



 



 



The problem was how to poach the fish. Cookery classes had made it seem so easy. Now I had eight people coming to dinner and no idea where to start.

The fish in question was a large striped bass bought at the Jefferson Market on 6th Avenue early that morning. Balducci’s had been my next stop for other exciting ingredients. I had even found time to browse the neat rows of novels in the bookstore, and then wander back through Washington Square.

This leisurely shopping on the sunny sidewalks of Greenwich Village was a most agreeable way to pass the time. After all, I had hardly any work to do at BP because we could not get approval to build the pipeline from Prudhoe Bay to Valdez, the Trans Alaska Pipeline. When I had first arrived in Anchorage in 1969, everything had looked set to start. But construction had never even begun. There had been a host of issues to do with land rights and the environment.

Within months of moving down to New York, in mid 1971, the workload had begun to slacken. It was no use trying to work with our partners without a purpose; it just provoked tensions. Things got so tight that we used writing paper on both sides and pencils down to the eraser. First there were efficiencies, then no travel, and then hardly any work.

Now it was June 1973. I was 25 and making good use of the time on my hands.

I started to enjoy life. Cooking was just one new enjoyable pastime. I also discovered the joy of good conversation, opera and contemporary art. SoHo (south of Houston Street), at first glance, seemed to be a deserted place where litter blew down dusty streets. But galleries had begun to open on the ground floors of empty warehouses and artists’  lofts were starting to occupy the cavernous top floors. I liked nothing better than to wander around and discover what was new. Huge canvases showed off the fresh, different work of artists such as Chuck Close and Richard Estes. I had my own camera, a Nikon SLR, and time to explore the area, taking photographs and enlarging them in the small darkroom I had created in my Greenwich Village apartment.

The apartment had come about through a chance encounter because of a leaking shower. When I first moved to New York, my accommodation was dreadful: a dismal tiny studio in the building on the corner of 47th Street and 2nd Avenue. I was unsure of how to orient myself in this big city and I had few friends. However, as luck would have it, the problems with the shower led to my meeting the tenant of the studio below. François Delas worked for the French state telephone company and, as we were both dissatisfied with our accommodation, we agreed that if we combined our rental we could afford to share a larger half-decent apartment.

Greenwich Village was the obvious choice. It was then the centre of the city’s young universe and at the heart of its vibrant music scene with the Bitter End Café; Bob Dylan was one of the Village’s more notable residents. We found the ideal three-bedroom apartment but neither of us realised that we were taking on a prohibited sublet from the famous folk singer Richie Havens. Our legal problems ended us in the small claims court. But once this was resolved, Waverley Place became home for more than three years.

The apartment occupied the parlour floor of a classic New York Brownstone. It had a large through room with high ceilings, white walls except for one which was rough exposed brick, a sturdy fireplace and stripped wooden floor. The only thing that spoilt the ambience was the heavily barred windows. My parents came to New York and my mother gave me advice on decor. Her additions included bright yellow curtains, a fluffy carpet and a rubber plant, all very fashionable in the 1970s.

With my interest in art, I started to collect prints by David Hockney who had become popular in the US. These prints were added to the walls, along with some of François’ amateur paintings. Soon we were entertaining because we had the best apartment of our growing set of friends. My cookery course with the celebrity chef of the time, James Beard, enabled me to master the intricacies of court-bouillon, béarnaise sauce and hollandaise sauce. This was not just to fill my time but to  satisfy my competitive need to demonstrate that the English could cook just as well as the French.

Ambition was far from my thoughts. But this carefree existence ended in October 1973 with a momentous world event. The OPEC nations imposed an embargo on oil exports to the US following the start of the Yom Kippur War. Suddenly, rationality trumped emotion. The US needed its own domestic supply of oil.

Any remaining opposition to the Trans Alaska Pipeline was brushed aside. The pipes and equipment had waited on the frozen banks of the Yukon River for almost five years. Now they were needed and we were racing to get the pipeline built.

I was back in the thick of it, working long hours on computer simulations of subsurface oil flows and on engineering challenges. There was little or no time for anything outside of work.




 Drama and events 

Little did I realise then that my “adventure in oil” - for it was certainly more than a career - would follow a similar pattern.1 My life’s adventure would not only be touched by momentous events on the world stage but would also be shaped by political intrigue, and by rivalry between nations and companies, to access and control the most valuable world resource at the end of the 20th century: oil.

But I would not be a passive observer. I would become one of the characters on the stage. And, in my own way, I too would touch and shape events. I was in the oil business at a particular time when advances in science, economic factors, strong political leaders and engineering would create new opportunities and bring about significant change.

In 1966, I signed up as a university apprentice with an oil company, part-owned by the British government. Just as I left university in 1969, the Apollo 11 programme landed man on the moon. One of its greatest legacies was the opportunity to see the world in context as a fragile oasis of life in a vast universe. For many, including me, this was the dawn of a sense of responsibility for the planet and its occupants. And that sense grew and grew and was the backdrop to my time at BP.

The oil crisis of the 1970s, which put an end to my leisurely time in New York, started a deep recession. After decades of stability, everything changed in the oil industry. And that change continued as the world  went on to experience something very different: the extraordinary power of the market economy. “Flattening of the world” started. Thomas Friedman, in his classic The World is Flat, explains how the flattening process began to happen at incredible speed and indirectly or directly touch “a lot more people on the planet at once”. The transition to the new era had enormous potential for disruption as it was not an “orderly transfer of power from the old winners to the new winners”.2


During the 40 years I spent in the oil industry, history has ebbed and flowed in tune with our understanding of energy; nations have risen and fallen in line with its availability. And relationships between nations have shifted dramatically.

When I started my career, Harold Wilson was the British Prime Minister and Richard Nixon was President of the US. In time they would be followed by international leaders determined to change the order of things. Prime Minister Margaret Thatcher pursued her agenda of privatisation and that included BP. This finally released the company from its governmental state of mind. It could become more commercial and competitive. Mrs Thatcher and President Reagan helped to bring President Gorbachev in from the cold. The Berlin Wall came down and the global stage changed. Many doors opened and we seized the opportunities. And at the same time rapidly changing technology, including the advent of the microprocessor, made huge differences to the way BP could explore and produce oil.

When I became CEO of BP in 1995, oil was plentiful and cheap and margins were low. The price of oil was $17 a barrel and would fluctuate from $9 a barrel to $67 a barrel just in the 12 years of my tenure as CEO. I had to learn to balance optimism with pessimism, recognising that political change would create many different opportunities and risks. In 1995, the rise of Brazil, Russia, India and China was regarded as neither significant nor sustainable. The ubiquitous power of the internet had not yet been felt. But the important influence of the NGOs was starting to become much more apparent. I would be at the helm of BP during a period when across the globe in almost every industry, in every aspect of life, it would seem as if “the patterns of the past” were being scrambled.3


In 1995, there was an air of malaise surrounding the oil industry. It was seen as dirty, old-fashioned, short on ethics, driven solely by profit, and not a place where people were proud of what they did. BP had been through a crisis, cutting its dividend for the first time, but had recovered.  It was an average, middleweight company. I knew that the company had to change and grow or it would not survive.

I went on to transform BP into Britain’s leading business and a global giant. BP became the world’s second largest non-state oil company by market capitalisation. From the end of 1995 to the end of 2006, the company’s market capitalisation increased almost five-fold; total shareholder returns were 130 per cent greater than those from the FTSE-All Share index; dividends trebled; earnings per share rose seven-fold; production almost trebled; and oil and gas reserves almost doubled. In 12 years, the company would achieve a long list of firsts, breaking new ground in new countries, including Russia and China. BP became a force to be reckoned with.

There had been a yearning desire for leadership in BP; much as in politics and business today. The company needed purpose and values. But leadership involves far more than any one individual. It requires trusted people to support and challenge, teams to bring the purpose alive, an internal structure for delivery, and lasting alliances with reliable partners.

I learnt these and many other things from great people who took the time to coach me. I learnt from successes. But mostly I learnt from the painful experience of setbacks. I joined BP because I liked solving problems. I thought those problems would be about rocks and costs. From that simple view I developed an understanding of what it takes to solve the very different and complex problems I encountered as I progressed through the company.

This, then, is my story of how I learnt about leadership in a tough industry. It is about the insights I gained as I transformed a company, challenged a sector, and prompted political and business leaders to change. My adventures included going toe-to-toe with tyrants, despots and elected leaders while bringing them around to my way of thinking in order to develop and maintain great business opportunities. They involved keeping a firm eye on day-to-day detail while not losing a clear view of the economic and political context within which the company operated. And they encompassed engineering feats which in many ways rival those of going to the moon. It is very much about how the world of business really works.

I have had to choose whom and what to leave out of this story. I cannot include every destination, for I have travelled the world. But  certain places on my travels were markers on my journey. And it is to those places that I will take you, from my first taste of oil in Iran to my search for new sources of energy in Brazil.

My story is also one of failure and human frailty. In the end, despite all the tough judgements I had made in business, I allowed emotion to trump the rational on a personal matter.

The story of my life had been inextricably entwined with the story of BP. After more than 40 years that deep connection was abruptly severed as my secret, private life collided with my public, business life at frightening speed in full view of the world.

But the seeds of art, culture and music, sown in that hot summer of 1973 in Greenwich Village, New York, have flourished into lifelong interests; they continue.

And the fish for the dinner party? That turned out just fine.
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IRAN

 First oil

 



 



 



26 May 1958: An oil well was on fire. For a boy of ten it was a great excitement. I was among the expatriate children invited to the Fields Golf Club at Masjid-i-Suleiman to hear the heroic firefighter, Myron Kinley, recount tales of his dangerous exploits.

Kinley had flown thousands of miles from Houston to cap the massive blowout of the Ahvaz No. 6 well. He had attempted to tackle the fiery blaze several times but had failed and he was now to entertain us while waiting for a change in the wind.

Kinley seemed to have stepped out of a boy’s comic. In my young mind he could easily match Dan Dare’s endeavours in the weekly  Eagle, or those of characters in the adventure books I had been eagerly devouring over the previous few years. He had a stunning track record of taming 400 oil well blowouts, and the scars and a crippled right leg to prove it.

Kinley told us he had never been beaten, though it had taken him “six months once to lick a fire that had been burning for two years in Romania”. All eyes were on him as he explained what had happened at Ahvaz No. 6 well. With a concoction of pipes, water, balloons and a bicycle pump, he simulated the pressure build-up. Then he showed us how the massive blowout had happened - with a huge bang.

By this time, the fire had been raging uncontrollably for more than a month. And even the “indispensable man of the oil industry”,1 with his uncanny mix of skill and luck, had been unable to tame the monster. I had been with my father to Haft Kel where the charred derrick and tangle of pipes remained as testimony to the fearsome power of a previous blowout.

But the Ahvaz No. 6 blowout was live and ablaze. It began on the morning of 19 April 1958. Within seconds a gigantic cloud of fire  seemed to set the sky alight. At night we could see the red and orange glow from the hill where we lived, which was more than 50 miles away. Nearer to the site, the noise and stench from the unrelenting inferno were overwhelming.
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Iran: where I first discovered oil

Kinley arrived on the fifth day of the fire. His reputation at the time was second to none. Firefighters Red Adair and Boots & Coots would follow in his footsteps. It took him many days just to clear the tangle of red-hot debris before he could start to tackle the blaze. With help from the Iranian crew, Kinley toiled in temperatures as high as 120° C.

Many of the crew had worked with him seven years earlier on the  Rig 20 fire at Naft Safid; then, one of the biggest, most spectacular, fires in the history of oil. People still talked about the long tangle of steel pipe that shot 2,000 feet into the sky, like a writhing snake, with one of Kinley’s explosive charges.

At Ahvaz 6, a constant spray of water on to flameproof vehicles was required. The crew had to use hand signals as the screaming fire was so deafening. It would take five explosions and 47 days to blow the fire out completely and a further 18 days to cap the well. There was talk that every day the uncontrollable fire had cost a million dollars.

After his Ahvaz 6 exertions, 60-year-old Kinley decided it was time he gave up fighting oil well fires. Returning to the US, he tackled a further two fires before he retired for good.2


But I was only just beginning with oil. I had been a few months in Iran with my parents and everything about the industry and this exotic country enthralled me.




 Lazy days 

My father was working at Masjid-i-Suleiman, which everyone called MIS. I have memories of a hot and idyllic life. This revolved around the swimming club, open-air cinema - Ben Hur being one of the favourite films - ice-cold Coca-Cola, horse riding and Caesar, our German Shepherd. Bicycle trips with friends were a feature of many lazy days.

I liked to play golf with my father at the club. The fairways were simply cleared rock sand (sabkah) and the “greens” were oiled sand, which formed a surface as smooth as freshly rolled grass. For a boy who loved nothing better than Meccano (a toy construction kit popular in the 1930s to 1950s), aeroplanes and trains, my great excitement was when my father took me to see the oil fields. Every time we ventured out we discovered something new and different - an abandoned oil derrick, a working drilling rig, or a producing well with a separator. I would imagine what they were doing. At the well head I listened to the sound of oil gurgling below. Very often there was a pervasive smell of oil or sulphur.

Visits to the local bazaar with my mother were an assault on every sense, with sights, sounds and smells of which a young boy in the UK could only dream. Iran was a land of colour. Exquisite red and ochre carpets in the bazaar, bright blue skies, amber deserts, and the intense  turquoise blue of the Karoun River as it flowed through the gorge at Lali. In the first few days of spring, the desert would show a short-lived, vague shimmer of green shoots, and small red tulips and bright yellow narcissi would appear beside the road before being overcome by the increasing heat.

Our first home was a single storey, stone-built house, with a manicured, heavily watered Bermuda grass lawn, in an expatriate compound on the hillside at Naf Tak. Later, in my teenage years, we moved to Scotts Crescent. These grander houses were prefabs brought over from the US. They had all the mod cons of the 1960s, from fitted kitchen to smart bathroom. Three servants lived behind our house: a cook, a girl who did all the laundry and a male ferash who seemed to be employed to clean the stone floor continually.

Apart from events at the Fields Golf Club, the swimming pool and the adjacent open-air cinema, people made their own entertainment; smartly dressed couples came to our house in the evening to play bridge. Mixed drinks were very much the fashion and caviar was plentiful, though guests would probably have preferred hard-to-come-by cheese on toast. It was a time when people had more style than money, but compared to how I remembered life in England, this seemed to me to be luxury.




 Roots 

I had, in fact, only lived in England for very brief periods by this time.

My father, also John Browne, had been an officer in the British Army. He met and married my mother, Paula, in Germany shortly after the Second World War. I was born in Hamburg in February 1948 and was their only child.

Germany and briefly Therfield, near Royston in England, had been my homes until my father was posted to Singapore in 1952. It is one of my earliest memories as we travelled there by troopship; it seemed such an adventure. I discovered many things in this new and exotic place - large jars of sweets, for one thing, which were rationed in England for a long time after the war.

We lived in a “black and white” colonial house, relying on the natural circulation of air, rather than air conditioning, to combat the intense heat and humidity. The Tanglin School, which I attended, finished at  midday as it was far too hot to concentrate in the afternoon. Then, the best place to go was the air-conditioned cinema or the Gillman swimming pool.

My memories of that time now comprise snake charmers and fortune tellers, whom my mother particularly liked, although I do not think she relied on their words. There were ice-cream cakes for birthdays which were cut with my father’s ceremonial sword. There was Amah who looked after me since my parents were often out. Soldiers guarded our house and took me to school in a truck during the troubles with Malaya; my father’s predecessor had been shot dead. Monkeys were in the garden and, given any chance, would snatch food from the kitchen or dining table. And there were plenty of friends with whom to play what would now be regarded as politically incorrect war games. It was a period in which the last vestiges of the British Empire were disappearing.

Before the outbreak of the war, my mother had trained in hat design and she opened her own hat shop: The Hat Box, at 18 Battery Road. With her friend, Winifred Winter, she cleverly used her millinery skills and her eye for colour and shape to meet the fashion demands of expatriate wives. She had an extraordinary attention to detail and loved to contrast rather than to co-ordinate exotic and vibrant colours. Vivid feathers and ribbons, delicate hand-made flowers, tiny sparkling sequins and luminous beads were added to different hat shapes brought over from Freemans of London.

The Singapore newspaper, reporting on the opening of The Hat Box in late 1952, described my mother as a “vivacious brunette”. An army officer’s wife would have been expected to be involved in coffee mornings, charitable ventures, or entertaining people to tea, rather than to show any sign of enterprise - but, then, my mother did not fit in with the norm.

In June 1953, my mother’s hats were much in evidence at Singapore parties for Queen Elizabeth II’s Coronation day. I just about remember the red, white and blue smoke from the warplanes in the Coronation fly-past as my father was on the parade ground with his troops.

We returned to live in the UK when my father’s commission ended in 1955, as the number of people in the military were reduced following the end of the Second World War and the final demise of the British Empire. Originally from Norfolk, my father wanted to return to East Anglia but needed to be near London. Cambridge was the obvious  choice as it was a good place from which to commute.

We first rented 71 Chesterton Road from a university professor and I started at the local primary school, St Luke’s. After a few months, we moved to number 88, which my parents bought. Next door to our family doctor, the rambling, plain, red-brick Victorian house had a large garden with a shed and places to explore.

I liked the house, especially the garden, but our return to the UK was probably quite a shock for my mother. She had been living the good life of a fashionable designer in Singapore. The first rented house in Chesterton Road was very ordinary and the second was certainly not grand.3 My father had to set about finding a job - which he did with Iranian Oil Services, a company providing employees to a consortium of oil companies in Iran. And my mother soon realised that she too would have to work. We had lodgers who helped to pay the bills and she set up another hat business at home: Paula Browne, Continental Milliner.

All this was not only a great contrast to Singapore, but also very different from her life in Hungary before the Second World War. I was eight years old before I began to understand all this.

December 1956: I arrived home from school one day to find our house crammed with visitors. They were all speaking in a foreign language. The top two floors were given over to the lodgers but these new visitors were in our part of the house, on the ground and first floors. They were in the front parlour, overlooking the road, and in the dining room, which overlooked the back garden. I eventually found my mother, with yet more visitors, in the kitchen at the back of the house. She was in her element. She had set about cooking a large pan of delicious-smelling goulash for the guests and she too was chatting in the foreign language, which I recognised as Hungarian, but could not understand.

We often had visitors but never so many. Over the next few months we had numerous Hungarians coming and going. Some moved in as lodgers upstairs. One woman who stayed was an opera singer. I found her with my mother in the front parlour one day and was invited in to listen to her sing.

She was a very large lady. When seated at the upright piano, she began to pull some extraordinary facial expressions. Even before she began to sing I was struggling to contain myself. And then she opened her mouth. Her voice was overpowering and seemed to completely fill the room. I had never heard anything like it. I burst out laughing.

The singer ignored me. She must have been totally self-absorbed. But my mother cautioned me silently with a small shake of her head. Later, when we were alone, I was reprimanded by my mother for being rude. She explained to me that I had to be polite to our guests because they were “émigrés”. I had never heard the word before. She told me they had escaped from Hungary where there had been a revolution.4


I knew my mother came from somewhere different but this was the first time I actually saw her as foreign. I am sometimes reminded of this little incident when I go to the opera, a pastime I now love.

I assumed then that our guests were all my mother’s friends. Years later, I discovered she had never met them before. My mother was merely a member of a network of people in the UK who agreed to accommodate the flood of Hungarian refugees. Some stayed in the UK but many went across to the US and Canada.5 The arrival of the Hungarian émigrés at our Cambridge house must have caused my mother some excitement and triggered in her a series of mixed emotions.

My mother’s family was from Transylvania6 and were solid bourgeois stock of good standing in the local community. Her father had owned land and traded cattle. Even so, her mother, who was Jewish and from Vienna, was thought to have married below her status. The fact that my mother’s background was Jewish never struck me as unusual. Nor did it seem unusual that my mother had later been accepted as Catholic. All this was part of me and did not seem to be anything other than normal, even when I attended daily services at an Anglican school.

My mother did not leave Hungary; she was taken by the Nazis. Almost all her family perished during the Second World War. My mother survived over a year in a concentration camp, Auschwitz. As a child I could never have understood what this meant to her, and she hardly talked about what happened until shortly before she died.

In fact when she was alive, very few people knew of her background. It was not relevant. She would say to me she had three lives: the time before the war, the time with my father, and then the time with me after my father’s death. The war was not a life. I am in no doubt that her experiences created the deep-seated beliefs which shaped me significantly.

My education, for example, was important to her. Time and again she said: “Your education is vital. No one can take that away from you.” Her ordeal made her believe that everything else could disappear  overnight. If you were left with nothing but still had your brains, education and drive, at least you could start again .7


Educated in Vienna, she spoke five languages - English, Romanian, Hungarian, German and French. With these skills and her own drive she had rebuilt her life after the Second World War. After liberation, she went to work as an interpreter for the British Army in Itzehoe in Germany. With no family and her homeland now part of the Soviet bloc behind the Iron Curtain, she had nowhere else to go.

That was when she had met my father; he was the army administrator for the area. Getting married was not easy. My mother was a stateless person with no records and my father had a difficult time getting approval to marry her.

The cataclysmic events of the war defined both my parents. My mother lost everything and was thrust into a new life. My father also gained a new life. The difference was he escaped from his working class past. His father had been a painter journeyman and his mother a nursing sister at Norwich hospital.

Their backgrounds - and, perhaps, their characters - were the source of some tension in later years. My mother in many ways was more competent, ambitious and outgoing than my father. She was better educated and better at organising and managing their financial affairs.

This family history was the source of my mother’s aspirations for me. My mother wanted me to have everything she had lost because of the war and to have more than my father ever had.

What my father thought of all our Hungarian visitors I never knew. He was busy commuting to London for his new job with Iranian Oil Services. In early 1957 this took him out to Iran, to be employed by BP, formerly the Anglo-Iranian Oil Company. Initially he had to go unaccompanied and so my mother and I stayed behind in Cambridge for almost 12 months. My memories of that time are happy: school, which I enjoyed, a constant stream of visitors to the house, and the dining-room table strewn with long, beautiful vivid blue and green feathers for my mother’s hat making.

She seemed to be able to turn her hand to anything. When she married she had never been inside a kitchen but she took control and soon became an accomplished cook. She passed her appreciation of good cooking and good food on to me.

During this time in Cambridge, we would go together to a small  Polish delicatessen, opposite St John’s College. When we opened the door the exotic and pungent smells came wafting out. We bought Liptauer cheese, bottled cucumbers, sauerkraut, paprika and spicy sausages, as a substitute for what my mother thought of as bland English food.

We left Cambridge at the end of 1957 to join my father in Iran. I attended the American School in MIS for a year with other expatriate children but that idyllic life soon came to an abrupt end. I had to return to England. I was sent to boarding school.




 Boarding school 

15 January 1959: I was put on an aeroplane in Abadan to go by way of Beirut and Rome to London. The journey took over 15 hours. My destination was a prep school, a private school for boys of between 8 and 13 years of age: the junior school of The King’s School Ely. My father said boarding school would “make me a man”; my mother thought sending one’s children away to school “barbaric”.

I was uncertain. Within days of arrival I had made up my mind. I hated it. It was freezing cold, particularly arriving from the desert heat of Iran. The accommodation in old cathedral buildings was extremely basic; this was no luxury. Our common room was a Norman undercroft, a dark, dank crypt-like place with one anthracite burner tucked in a corner.

The food was dreadful, mainly offal which I have never been able to eat since. Learning was by rote and discipline was corporal. Physical punishment was deemed acceptable in British prep schools in those days.

Bullying was part of the game. This was Lord of the Flies for real.8 You had to be tough and develop survival instincts. I was small in stature and chubby (I had a thyroid problem which was not diagnosed until my early twenties) but learnt fast. You did not get picked on if people liked you, or if you were good at something - in my case, swimming and theatre. And, of course, I could talk about Iran and about oil, which none of the other boys could.

We had two exeat weekends a term, when you were let out, but as my parents were overseas I had to stay with friends. I missed my parents and they missed me. Years later my mother said that sending me away to school was one of the biggest regrets of her life.

I stayed at the junior school until I was 13 and then went on to the senior school of the same establishment. This turned out to be much better. Perhaps I had become used to things, but it seemed less austere and the school staff more enlightened. Many years later I would become a governor of the school. I am now its Patron.




 Summer holidays 

The one redeeming feature of being sent to school in England was the flights back and forth to Iran on the latest aeroplanes such as the Comet 4 and the Lockheed Electra. Then, air travel was an unusual experience. The flights were all first class; people dressed fashionably in “travel clothes”; cabin attendants were “air hostesses”, usually young and middle class. The service included free packs of cigarettes in tins of 25 with brands such as State Express 555 and Piccadilly Black & White. The objective of a young boy was to get his hands on one of these packs. I never succeeded. My mother, however, smoked and kept the tins to store sequins and beads for her hats.

Stepping out of the aeroplane on my return to Abadan felt like walking into an oven; temperatures were often above 50° C in summer. Abadan, a big city on the southern coast of Iran, was the site of the large refinery and export terminal to which a pipeline had been built in 1913. By the 1940s it had become the biggest refinery in the world.

I travelled on from Abadan to MIS on a de Havilland Dove, a 1950s small short-haul airliner, which flew turbulently over the desert. And of course I would be looking out for my mother waiting anxiously for me at the small airport at MIS.

I returned to Iran for the summers in my teenage years and felt I was back where I belonged. However, one summer a bad fall from a horse resulted in damage to my back, which curtailed my sporting activities. I needed something else to do so I began to read about Iran’s deep and violent history and its cultural heritage. Thousands of years of civilisation had given Iran a story as interesting as that of China.

I explored historical sites including Persepolis, Shiraz and Isfahan. In those days, tourism was rare but there were no restrictions on sightseeing. My trip to Isfahan, with my mother and school friends who came out from the UK, sparked an interest which would later win me a scholarship to Cambridge. We walked freely around grand palaces and mosques,  many of which were created by Shah Abbas in the 16th century. We marvelled at the impressive Naqsh-e Jahan Square, which was large enough for a polo match. The Chehel Sotoun Palace, the so-called “Palace of Forty Columns”, particularly appealed to me; it has only twenty columns but appears to have forty because of the reflection in its formal pool.

My sense that my parents were very different from my friends’ parents continued to develop in Iran. It was not only that my mother dressed stylishly, enjoyed different foods, and continued to make her hats, but she also mixed far more with Iranians than the other expatriate wives did. She also spoke her version of English with a distinctive Hungarian accent. I was sure that she did this deliberately. People may have thought her unusual but excused her as she was “continental”.

I too was encouraged to mix. When I was at the American school, all my friends had been white Caucasian expatriate children but I developed a diverse group of local friends during those long summer holidays.

My father treated the Iranians with great respect. He insisted that I had to be very polite to the servants, Bahktiari from South Iran, even if my friends were not. In many ways the organisation and functioning of expatriates in Iran still resembled colonial societies, with a prevalent superior mindset and no integration into local communities.9


Certainly the male white British bias had been made explicit in the Anglo-Iranian Oil Company’s staff manual.10 This directed that recruitment should be restricted to British subjects and those of European origin or descent, except in foreign countries where there was a legal or concessional obligation to employ local nationals. It was also not the company’s policy at that time “to employ women on work which is normally regarded as men’s work” and female staff who married were expected to resign and “no exceptions to this rule can be contemplated”.

As my mother treated everyone the same, I did not think it was an issue if someone was of a different colour, could not speak English or dressed differently. It was an unconventional attitude then, but it sowed a seed which grew, during my business career, into a firm conviction of the merits of diversity.

Another seed sown in Iran was the fascination with the mystery and adventure of oil. I was taken by the allure of drilling - seeing something of value come out of the ground - and by the derring-do of men like Kinley. But I could have had no idea how entwined my own life would  be with oil, and with BP, over the next half a century. I read books such as Adventure in Oil, by Henry Longhurst, and was impressed by the book’s foreword by Winston Churchill which talked of “the pioneering of the vast oil industry of the Middle East [as] a story of vigour and adventure in the best traditions of the merchant venturers of Britain”.11


This book told the tale of what had happened in Iran half a century before my arrival.12 That story set the context for future events, not just in my life, or in the oil industry, but on the world stage.




 Lucky oil strike 

26 May 1908: Exactly 50 years before Myron Kinley’s demonstration of an oil well blowout at the Fields Golf Club in MIS, and very close to the same spot, British engineer George Reynolds first discovered oil. That discovery was the origin of today’s BP.

At the start of the 20th century, William Knox D’Arcy staked much of his fortune on finding oil in what was then Persia (now Iran), confident that the limestone Zagros mountains were exactly the sort of terrain where oil was formed and trapped in the anticlines. William Knox D’Arcy is often described as an “adventurer” though he never visited Persia. He was actually a speculator.

The region had long been known for its natural seeps of oil. Legends and stories abound of fire temples where “fire was miraculously lit” and “fire burns without fuel”. As a young boy in MIS, I climbed over what was romantically known as the ruins of an ancient Zoroastrian13 fire temple, called “the Mosque of Solomon”.14


At the start of the 20th century, Persia was commercially and politically important to Britain. For many years the country had been caught between Victorian Britain and Tsarist Russia in the struggle for empire, known as the Great Game.15 In the latter part of the 19th century, Russia had been rapidly expanding in Central Asia in search of a warm-water port. Britain, worried about the threat to India, saw Persia as a safeguard against Russian advances. Persia was variously depicted as a kitten being toyed with by a bear (Russia) and a lion (Britain) in a Punch cartoon, or as merely one of: “the pieces on a chessboard upon which is being played out a game for the domination of the world”.16


With political cunning, which would advance Britain’s interests in the region, D’Arcy’s agent negotiated a very favourable 60-year deal  with Shah Muzaffar al-Din to explore oil in a vast piece of terrain - five times the size of the UK - in the country’s provinces on the southern part of the Persian Gulf.17 The Shah’s motive was money as he was in financial difficulty at the time.

Despite D’Arcy’s confidence, years of fruitless search saw much of his fortune dwindle. George Reynolds, D’Arcy’s hired explorer, and his crew toiled in arduous conditions but to no avail. By 1908, D’Arcy sold some of his shares in the venture to a Glasgow consortium, The Burmah Oil Company. But the company lost patience with both D’Arcy and the venture. Burmah Oil sent a telegram to Reynolds, who by this time was exploring near MIS, telling him to expect an important letter. The letter was to tell Reynolds to abandon the project.

While the letter was on its way, Reynolds was working on his last well, his final attempt. Incredibly, he struck oil. My father often took me to the site where that happened. By the 1950s it was in the MIS bazaar and marked with a plaque: MIS No. 1 well.

The Anglo-Persian Oil Company (APOC) was incorporated in April 1909. By 1914, the company became part-owned by the British government. The company’s second chairman, Charles Greenway,18 was in search of more investment for the company and Winston Churchill, then First Lord of the Admiralty, was seeking to secure a source of oil for the Royal Navy.19 So the UK government bought half the company.

Persia, renamed Iran in 1935, was the company’s sole source of supply (apart from a small oil field in Iraq) until 1934 and the predominant source of supply until 1951.20 However, the original deal struck by D’Arcy, whereby the country received only a fraction of the revenue for its own oil, rankled with many. Despite various attempts to renegotiate the deal and a revised concession being drawn up in 1933, the matter finally came to a head.

In December 1951, Iran’s newly elected Prime Minister, Mohammad Mossadeq, proclaimed that the oil industry was nationalised. The company (by then AIOC - the Anglo-Iranian Oil Company) was forced to leave the country.

An embargo on Iranian oil ensued. Britain froze Iran’s assets and amassed a huge threatening naval force in the Persian Gulf. Fearing that Mossadeq might appeal to his Soviet communist neighbours for support, in 1953 the American CIA and British Secret Intelligence Service masterminded a covert plot.

An Iranian coup d’état followed, Mossadeq was deposed and the pro-Western Shah Mohammad Reza Pahlavi returned. He would reign until the Iranian revolution in 1979.

And so under the new regime oil began to flow again. A politically expedient international consortium was created, Iranian Oil Participants, of which AIOC was the largest shareholder.21 Shortly after this, AIOC took the name of its original marketing subsidiary, British Petroleum (BP). The National Iranian Oil Company (NIOC) was also formed. There was a fairer 50/50 agreement between NIOC and the consortium. It was the same as other agreements then coming into force in the Middle East.

Expatriates from the UK, US and the Netherlands came back into the country. One of them was my father.

When the consortium companies returned to Iran in 1954 it was on a more equitable basis. This was not just about the share of the profits but also about people. Iranians were to be given significant jobs and education. Skills were to be transferred. This started with “non basic functions”,22 such as office management and estates, and progressed into technical areas. It was an indication of the way things would change around the world.

The legacy from this era is profound and far-reaching. The way in which companies and governments were seen to have exploited natural resources, particularly oil, started a pattern of instability, mistrust, and disagreement within and between countries. The world began to be concerned about the security of oil and gas and became suspicious of the motives of international oil companies, one of which I would eventually lead.




 Education 

But such big issues were far from my young thoughts. My father’s job in Iran finished when I was 16 as his job was taken by an Iranian. I left Iran with a head full of ideas about exotic cultures and the oil industry. My parents went back to live in Cambridge, at a modern house they had bought in Stansgate Avenue, and I continued at boarding school.

My last two years at The King’s School Ely were tough on my father’s finances. When we were in Iran, half my fees were paid by his employer.  Now he was self-employed, working as a consultant in office design and planning, and he had to fund my education entirely.

I decided that I did not want my father to have to fund me through university, too. I was offered a place at St John’s College, Cambridge to read Natural Sciences and I had two ideas. The first was to apply for one of the rare Trevelyan scholarships. Science students had to write on the arts, and art students had to write on the sciences. In Iran I had become very interested in photography and had begun to develop my own photographs. I had hundreds of images from my trip to Isfahan with my mother. So I went to the school library, public libraries and the Victoria and Albert Museum in London to find out more about Shah Abbas and Safavid architecture. I then wrote a rather flowery thesis, illustrated with my own photographs, on Isfahan. The result won me the lucrative Trevelyan scholarship which gave me £500 a year.

Meanwhile, I put my second idea into practice. I would apply to companies for a university apprenticeship. This would give me a stipend, pay my fees and provide work experience during the long summer vacations. I chose two companies: BP and the UK Atomic Energy Authority. I succeeded at both on the basis of my good school results. I chose BP. They paid my tuition fees and paid me £400 a year.

With this and the scholarship, I was very comfortable with £900 a year, a lot of money for any student in those days.

One of the first things we all learnt when we arrived at Cambridge was to pretend we were not working. Everything had to be done with apparent ease. It was not regarded as appropriate to be seen to work. You always had to appear to have time for people and conversation.

The reality was of course different. We had to study to pass our exams. So we all dissembled expertly. I would excuse myself from a long session of philosophy by saying I had to go and write a letter home; you could never let on that you were actually studying.

Years later I understood the logic behind this behaviour. It is a good lesson for today when students and business people make everyone aware of their efforts. If you always appear to be busy, people will think of you as unapproachable. There is no point in having an “open door” to your office unless you really are available to others, no matter how hard you are working.

I was at Cambridge when I first discovered computers. The computer laboratory at Cambridge had developed “Titan”, one of the world’s  most advanced computing machines of the day. It was available for limited periods for students’ use. I enjoyed writing programs - application software was practically unheard of in those days - to solve complex problems. This would stand me in good stead in the years to come.

The teaching method at Cambridge could best be described as providing opportunity, which you could either take or leave. If you took the opportunity, you met extraordinary people, legends in your subject. As a young man, I had thought that if people were famous they were probably dead. I realised that was not the case when I met Paul Dirac, one of the world’s greatest physicists. Teaching involved imbuing you with an economy or austerity of thought. Building things from first principles, not having to remember vast amounts of data, and finding less than obvious relationships between facts were all things that were prized.

I had fun at Cambridge but never let my hair down. I was an active member of the Boat Club; I coxed eights. I went to parties but never drank excessively. From a very early age I was thought of as being very grown-up and this continued during my student years. I was not so serious that I could not enjoy a good laugh but I never fooled around. I had a drilled sense of behaviour, probably because I was guarded about my sexuality.

It was a few weeks before I graduated from Cambridge when I was made to understand vividly that business was not held in high regard.

June 1969: I had made a comment about considering a career in business, which prompted a reaction from one of my great and distinguished professors, Brian Pippard. While walking along King’s Parade with a group of friends, I saw him coming towards us. He turned to his colleague and said: “This is Browne. He is going to be a captain of industry. Isn’t that amusing?”

His jibe was both at me and business. I was one of the few who had achieved a First in Physics that year. Good students, if they were fascinated by the challenge of science and pursuit of knowledge, were expected to stay on to do a research degree and became academics.

A well-regarded alternative for those not attracted to academic life, or not quite good enough to make the grade, was to take the Civil Service examinations and enter government service. Banking was fine, so long as your family was actually in banking. Law was perfectly acceptable, as was medicine. Compared to these choices, finance - called a “job in the  City” in those days - was regarded as an inferior occupation. But it was still superior to a career in business. There was an unspoken but firm prejudice in the Cambridge environment that business was a waste of potential for high-fliers. It was considered vulgar.

I had toyed with the idea of research and was offered a position on a pioneering project at Madingley Rise.23 This was to work with British geophysicists Drummond Matthews and Fred Vine on their continuing research into sea floor spreading, which went on to inform plate tectonics theory.

But, as far as my father was concerned, research was not real work. His view was that, while I thought I could be a terrific academic, I would probably get bored. He knew I loved solving problems and believed I could put my skills to best use in business. Besides, he reminded me, I had a very good offer from BP.

“At least try working in business. Don’t just reject the opportunity,” he said. Part of the attraction was that BP had told me I would go to the US. It would be my ticket to America.

We agreed I would work with BP for a year, in effect a sabbatical. He knew me better than I knew myself. Once immersed in oil, I was hooked. It would become the driving passion in my life. I would be with the company until 2007.
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14 November 1969: I was not expecting a welcoming party, but I had hoped that at least someone from the office would be waiting to greet me. Arriving in a bitterly cold, dark Anchorage, on the once-a-week flight over the North Pole, it seemed I was on my own. Now I had to find a taxi to my accommodation: the Voyager Hotel.

The meagre building, lacking any architectural merit, was marooned in the centre of a lot, surrounded by snow and frozen mud. It was uninviting to say the least. I was too junior to warrant the smarter Captain Cook Hotel next door. And even if I had been more senior, there were no rooms. Anchorage was booming. More and more people were arriving every month, and beds were hard to come by.

Inside, the hotel cheered me even less. The noisy, smoke-filled bar was crammed with burly, beer-swilling men, with “working” women loitering at the entrance. Too tired to take it all in, I made my way upstairs to a pokey room.

Twenty-one and starting my first job the next day with BP, this was not quite how I had imagined big America.

My induction to the company, a few months before, had involved learning about oil exploration on a short course at the Great Fosters Hotel in Surrey, England. The luxurious 16th-century accommodation was a pleasant shock for a new graduate. But it was not all comfort, we also went to Kimmeridge and spent time on England’s Jurassic coast, understanding rock formations and examining fossils.

Then my “posting orders” came through. BP, then part-owned by the British government, and seen by many as an arm of the Foreign Office, was still highly bureaucratic and posting orders meant exactly that. There was no say in the matter. I had been told earlier that I would  be going to the US. But Alaska? Was this America? I had hardly even heard of it.

[image: 002]

Oil changed Alaska

Research made me slightly more enthusiastic. Although closer to the North Pole than to Washington,1 Alaska had become the US’s 49th state in 1959, just ten years earlier. The land was bought from Russia in 1867, for a price of less than two cents per acre, at the time regarded as an expensive folly.2


A significant oil field had just been discovered. This would be an opportunity to be involved in real oil exploration. I was given a BP clothing allowance to ensure I had the appropriate kit for the extreme  climate. So, after much careful shopping, I thought I was well prepared.

But nothing could have prepared me for Anchorage. It was a wild place, not lawless, but certainly not sedate. And I soon discovered my hotel was indicative of the society. The Alaskan oil boom had attracted hordes of single, opportunist, get-rich, young men. There was not enough accommodation and bread often ran out by mid morning; you had to be up early to queue. Nightly binge drinking in sawdust-floored bars would often end in brawls in the street. I certainly began to learn more about life.

The streets were piled with snow in winter and when break-up came, as temperatures rose in the spring, they were a sea of mud. Only five years earlier, the town had been 80 miles from the epicentre of the Big One, the worst earthquake ever recorded in North America. One street had slipped downhill. Empty lots and missing buildings still bore witness to the damage.

Oil had brought adventure to Anchorage. And I stepped straight into this Klondike-spirit.




 Pioneering spirit 

Oil companies had been looking at Alaska for many years. As in Iran, there were stories of local people finding oil seeps. These were mainly on the treeless tundra of the North Slope, but with total darkness and temperatures of minus 50° C for three months of the year, exploration had been technically challenging.

In 1959, when areas became available for exploration, BP bought leases in the northern Brooks foothills close to the US Navy’s 35,000-square-mile petroleum reserve.3 BP geologists recognised similarities here with geological formations, so-called anticlines, which had been the tell-tale sign of large oil-bearing structures in the Middle East.

In this respect, BP was far-sighted. BP executives recognised they could not rely on stability in the Middle East - where they were accessing reserves in Kuwait, Iraq, Iran, Qatar, and Libya - and merely wait for a crisis and then react. They did not abandon the Middle East but implemented a parallel strategy to find a diversified set of new sources. As events turned out, the company would otherwise have been finished.

BP went out far and wide, including to Trinidad, Papua New Guinea and Nigeria. They even started exploring in the British North Sea. In  Alaska, there were many years of fruitless exploration in challenging conditions. But there was enough potential to persuade BP to continue. In particular, wider seismic surveys identified two promising prospects: a huge anticline near Colville River and a smaller faulted anticline at Prudhoe Bay.

In December 1964, BP acquired 318,000 acres around the Colville prospect. They had yet to drill there when eight months later, in July 1965, the Prudhoe Bay leases were auctioned. Other companies had begun to explore and had the benefit of seismic surveys, too. BP was outbid on the acreage immediately above the apparent crest of the anticline. That was purchased by a joint venture between Atlantic Richfield Company (ARCO) and Humble Oil & Refining. BP, however, was successful in its bid for the land around the rim of the structure and thought this a good prospect as the oil-bearing section in similar fields in Iran had proven to be thicker and more prolific around the rim than at the crest.

The Colville prospect turned out to be dry but this did not deter the company from acquiring more leases, again around the flanks of the Prudhoe Bay field, in January 1967. But by early 1968, after nearly a decade of exploration, eight failed wells, and more than $30 million of sunk costs, BP decided to pull out of Alaska. The drilling rig was packed, ready to be shipped out when the Colville River would be ice-free in late spring.

Then, in March 1968, ARCO and Humble Oil struck oil with their last-chance well at the centre of the Prudhoe Bay structure. This was followed by a second successful well seven miles away. It was the first indication of a huge oil-bearing structure.

So just like Burmah Oil’s instructions to George Reynolds in Persia some 60 years earlier, BP was about to walk away when a world-changing discovery was made. I soon realised that there were two important decisions about exploration: knowing where to start and knowing when to stop.

The stakes changed immediately. There was a frenzy of activity. BP decided not to withdraw from Alaska, encouraged by an approach from ARCO to purchase its Prudhoe Bay leases. They scrambled to get a new rig through the Bering Strait before the winter freeze. Within 12 months, in March 1969, BP hit oil in large quantities at its Put River No. 1 well. It had taken 10 years.

The company issued “only a tight lipped statement, giving no indication of the estimated quantity”4 ahead of another competitive sale of leases in Prudhoe Bay. Initial estimates for the Prudhoe Bay field were around 10 billion barrels, comparable to giant fields in the Middle East.5  It was the largest ever oil field found in North America. BP’s focus on the flanks of the structure turned out to be a very shrewd move. They were right; around 60 per cent of the oil was concentrated there.

The find in Prudhoe Bay was massive and valuable. Its development as a producing field would turn out to be an enormous technical challenge.

The North Slope was soon transformed, with a jetty on the shores of Prudhoe Bay, gravel roads and a landing strip for aircraft. New businesses were set up to provide supplies, ranging from cement to steel piping. Base camps began to be built and the oil companies rushed to bring in drilling rigs, vehicles and equipment. The race was on to develop the discoveries, get the oil to market and find more oil.

By the time I arrived in November 1969, the small BP office in Fireweed Lane, Anchorage - above a shop and next door to Dr Blood’s dental surgery - was a constant hive of activity. I joined as a trainee petroleum engineer, the most junior of some 20 staff.

I had no fixed ideas and was not hidebound by previous experience so I absorbed all I was told by others who had served their apprenticeships elsewhere. John Saint, my ultimate boss, brought experience from Trinidad. And Chuck McMaster, who had previously worked for Shell in California, became a brilliant mentor. With little else to do, I learnt about petroleum engineering, well testing, wire line operations - and how to eat donuts 12 hours a day while waiting for something to do at a drilling location.

Prudhoe Bay is 650 miles north of Anchorage. We would fly up in a small plane to the newly built air strip at Dead Horse. On one of my first trips, I went with BP’s local manager, Geoffrey Larminie. A red-headed Irish geologist, he smoked a pipe and was larger-than-life. He arrived dressed for an English shooting party in plus fours and tweed coat. Because of this remarkable costume, no one forgot who he was and why he was there.

I discovered that the North Slope was vast, beautiful and very special - more so than I could ever have imagined. In the bitterly cold winter there are furious winds, snowdrifts and constant darkness; the sun never  makes it over the horizon. With spring comes light and you are almost blinded by endless glistening white - sometimes crystal blue - snow and ice.

In summer the sun never sets. The gentle warmth brings the thaw, creating lakes and rivers which attract flocks of birds. The top few inches of soil are then a boggy wilderness, dotted with a carpet of green shoots and tiny, fragile flowers, while the ground below remains permanently frozen. This is the permafrost, the permanently frozen subsoil, typical in the treeless tundra of the Arctic regions.

I worked on the BP exploration wells. It was part of learning on the job, doing what any petroleum engineer had to do. I was eager and enthusiastic and, because I kept asking questions, people were intrigued and keen to help me. There is no better way to learn. And what was exciting was that we had to find new answers to new questions.

How much oil was there? How do you drill a well through 2,000 feet of ice without melting the permafrost? How would the oil flow in the freezing temperatures? How could we build structures on ice? How could we move the rigs with no roads without damaging the tundra?

At one stage, Basil Butler, later to be chief executive of E&P (the exploration and production division), came out from the UK to find out if the oil, which was very hot, could be produced without melting the surrounding permafrost. If the permafrost had melted, there would have been some very big lakes. Complex insulation was developed but turned out to be unnecessary. It was the first time I met Basil and our paths crossed many times in the coming years. He was a very determined but extraordinarily polite man.

As the months went by, I moved from working on drilling rigs to working on other problems. These had to be solved in co-operation with other companies. That co-operation quickly became competition. Every company was looking at how to develop the field, how much it would cost, what it would produce and, importantly, what share of the costs and revenue it would get. The field was owned by a patchwork of surface lease owners and we had to agree on how much oil and gas each company owned and how we would operate the field as one entity. So owners worked together on some problems and in competition on others. Meetings were frequent, tough and involved endless negotiations.

From these meetings, I soon began to feel that our technology was lagging behind that of the American companies, particularly ARCO  and Humble. I knew BP had to get up the curve quickly and to solve problems ahead of others. I was experiencing something very different from my peers back home in the government-protected BP. Working in America, and collaborating and competing with great American companies, taught me what competition really meant.

It is a truism that necessity is the mother of invention. To solve some of the more complex problems, we needed to invent tools and technology. Because of the work I had done at Cambridge, I knew we needed access to a computer. We needed a big one. And to start with, it had to be in Anchorage. So I found someone called Millett Keller.




 Ingenuity 

Millett had a Masters degree from Stanford and had opened something called a “computer bureau” in downtown Anchorage. He had an IBM 11306 and we swiftly became firm friends. During the day Millett was running Cobol programs for clients, creating statements for the local bank. In the evening, he would let me run the off-shift with programs I had written in Fortran.7 BP had very few resources in Alaska. Here I found we could access the capability we required by buying it in at a low cost when it was not being used by someone else.

Millett became intrigued by what BP was trying to do; he would often work with me until late into the night. Among other things, we worked on computer-based mapping of the oil reservoirs. Together we stretched that poor machine to breaking point. Some of the original models and formulae created during that early phase would be in use for many years. They broke new ground, but today much of what we did seems commonplace. It is the same with any problem: when it is finally solved people wonder what the big deal was. As with the internet, which seems so obvious today.

I was in my element. This was more than a job; I was allowed to create things. I was using science and engineering to invent new ways to solve real problems. And I knew that what we were doing was not an academic exercise. The commercial stakes were massive. In such a competitive environment, innovation and speed were essential.

After six months of work in Anchorage, Millett and I decided that the poor IBM machine could cope no longer. He recommended we travel to California to find a machine with much larger processing power. 

So we set off and went to Control Data Corporation (CDC) in Palo Alto. We just turned up and signed the most basic contract. They had a very large computer, a CDC 6600,8 which we were allowed to hire at night. It filled a very large room with disk drives, tape drives, central processing units, card readers, flashing lights and so forth. It was attended by serious-looking men in white coats. It made you feel that you were in the presence of something very powerful, yet it was probably no more powerful than an office desktop today. I wrote the programs which were loaded on to the machine with punched cards. It took a long time to run a program and the machine was not sufficiently reliable to stay running for the 12 hours needed for a complete run. Starting and restarting the program was a way of life. And each time we had to finish before the day shift started.

I also discovered an early example of computer visualisation using a cathode-ray tube and a light pen, a primitive version of today’s touch screen and mouse. We eagerly adopted this technology which allowed us to do on a computer what had previously been done laboriously by hand. Here was a demonstration of the power of technology and a payback for my time at Cambridge. I realised I could do something that few others could do. Technology allowed me to glimpse into the future.




 Paradigm shift 

I was able to move out of the Anchorage Hotel and take over a tiny studio apartment when the local BP public relations manager left, but my salary was not enough to cover the rent of $400 a month. Once I had plucked up the courage to admit my plight, the matter was swiftly resolved. I got BP to pay me more. Later I shared a house on Tudor Way, then out of town but now very much downtown Anchorage, with three others from BP.

Because we were a small team, everyone had to get on with whatever there was to do. So after about a year, I started travelling to meet with BP’s commercial partners in San Francisco, Seattle, Los Angeles and New York. I became more deeply involved in commercial negotiations and could see what was happening with the product of my technical work. I was a very junior team member but nonetheless welcome. The US was more open and less hierarchical than the UK at the time.
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